
Rye City Planning Commission Minutes 
September 8, 2015 

 
MEETING ATTENDANCE:  
Planning Commission Members: Other: 

 Nick Everett, Chair  Christian K. Miller, AICP, City Planner 
 Martha Monserrate, Vice-Chair  Carolyn Cunningham, CC/AC Chair 
 Andrew Ball  Melissa Johannessen, AICP, LEED AP 
 Laura Brett   
 Barbara Cummings   
 Hugh Greechan        
 Alfred Vitiello         

 1 
2 
3 

5 

7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 

29 
30 
31 
32 
33 

I. HEARINGS 
 
1. 49 Midland Avenue 4 

 
 Mr. Richard Horsman, landscape architect, was present for the applicant. Mr. 6 

Horsman briefly described the application, stating that the project consists of 
replacing an existing wood deck and adding new wood steps from the deck to the 
ground level. He stated that there will be no increase in impervious area in the 
wetland buffer.  

 
 There were no questions from the Commission and no comments from the 

public. 
 

ACTION: Martha Monserrate made a motion, seconded by Barbara Cummings, to 
close the public hearing for Wetland Permit application number WP#399, 
which was carried by the following vote: 
 
Nick Everett, Chair:    Aye 
Martha Monserrate, Vice-Chair:  Aye 
Andrew Ball:     Aye 
Laura Brett:     Aye 
Barbara Cummings:    Aye 
Hugh Greechan:    Absent 
Alfred Vitiello:    Aye 

 
 
2. 309 Grace Church Street 28 
 

 Mr. Richard Horsman, landscape architect, was present for the application. Mr. 
Horsman briefly described the application, stating that the project involves the 
installation of a fire pit on a bluestone patio. He stated that the mitigation for the 
project consists of a permeable paver system beneath the patio to allow for 



Rye City Planning Commission Minutes (Cont.) 
September 8, 2015 
Page 2 of 11 
 

1 
2 
3 

5 

7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 

infiltration, as well as the removal of existing bamboo in the wetland, which will be 
replaced with hardwood and flowering trees.  

 
 There were no questions from the Commission. 4 

 
 Mr. Richard Runes, 3 Kirby Lane North – Mr. Runes stated that he lives 6 

immediately adjacent to the subject property. He stated that he has no opposition 
to the project, but he does object to the requirement to remove the bamboo. Mr. 
Runes stated that the bamboo serves a water purification function in the wetland 
and also provides screening between his property and the subject property. He 
stated that he believes the bamboo functions better in the wetland than other 
plants.  

 
ACTION: Barbara Cummings made a motion, seconded by Laura Brett, to close the 

public hearing for Wetland Permit application number WP#400, which was 
carried by the following vote: 
 
Nick Everett, Chair:    Aye 
Martha Monserrate, Vice-Chair:  Aye 
Andrew Ball:     Aye 
Laura Brett:     Aye 
Barbara Cummings:    Aye 
Hugh Greechan:    Absent 
Alfred Vitiello:    Aye 

 
 
3. 979 Forest Avenue 
 

 Barbara Cummings recused herself from the public hearing for this application. 
 
 Ms. Linda Whitehead, attorney, and Mr. David Mooney, architect, were present 

for the application. Ms. Whitehead stated that the applicant is seeking a wetland 
permit for a flagpole and kayak storage rack in the wetland buffer. She stated 
that the new impervious surface area totals 3.62 square feet. She noted that a 
specification sheet for the flagpole and lighting was submitted to the Commission 
prior to the meeting. Ms. Whitehead stated that the applicants made an effort to 
reduce the wattage and width of the beam of light. 

 
 There were no questions from the Commission and no comments from the 

public. 
 
ACTION: Martha Monserrate made a motion, seconded by Laura Brett, to close the 

public hearing for Wetland Permit application number WP#402, which was 
carried by the following vote: 
 



Rye City Planning Commission Minutes (Cont.) 
September 8, 2015 
Page 3 of 11 
 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 

13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 

33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 

Nick Everett, Chair:    Aye 
Martha Monserrate, Vice-Chair:  Aye 
Andrew Ball:     Aye 
Laura Brett:     Aye 
Barbara Cummings:    Recuse 
Hugh Greechan:    Absent 
Alfred Vitiello:    Aye 

 
 
II. ITEMS PENDING ACTION 
 
1. 49 Midland Avenue 12 
 

 The Commission stated that there would be no increase in the amount of 
impervious surface area in the wetland buffer and no mitigation is required. 

 
 The Commission reviewed the draft resolution and had no revisions. 

 
ACTION: Martha Monserrate made a motion, seconded by Laura Brett, to approve 

Wetland Permit application number WP#399, which was carried by the 
following vote: 
 
Nick Everett, Chair:    Aye 
Martha Monserrate, Vice-Chair:  Aye 
Andrew Ball:     Aye 
Laura Brett:     Aye 
Barbara Cummings:    Aye 
Hugh Greechan:    Absent 
Alfred Vitiello:    Aye 

 
 
2. 309 Grace Church Street 32 
 

 The Commission asked Mr. Horsman to describe the proposed planting plan. Mr. 
Horsman stated that the existing bamboo was hard hit by the previous winter and 
most of it has died back. He noted that existing large evergreen shrubs provide 
visual screening from the adjacent property, and even screen some of the 
bamboo from visibility. Mr. Horsman stated that he reasoned that the bamboo 
could be removed without impacting the screening between the two properties. 
He stated that the proposed magnolia tree and amelanchier trees will also 
provide screening in the summer. He noted that the other trees proposed are 
shade trees. 

 



Rye City Planning Commission Minutes (Cont.) 
September 8, 2015 
Page 4 of 11 
 

2 
3 
4 
5 

7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 

 Ms. Carolyn Cunningham noted that the CC/AC recommends removal of the 1 
bamboo because it is an invasive species and is very persistent. She stated that 
the CC/AC’s “acceptable” recommendation is based partly on the bamboo being 
removed. 

 
 The Commission asked whether the proposed mitigation plants would be 6 

considered “better” or “worse” than the bamboo in terms of their wetland 
functions. Mr. Horsman stated that the proposed plants are not invasive, which is 
a benefit over the bamboo, but otherwise their wetland functions are 
approximately the same. The Commission noted that it has been consistently 
recommending removal of bamboo in other applications where it is an existing 
condition. 

 
 Mr. Runes commented that the existing bamboo is not a “running” kind of 

bamboo, so it does not propagate as quickly as “running” bamboo. He stated that 
it has been in its present location for a long time without expanding outside the 
area. He stated that the bamboo is present in a low spot of both properties, so 
that with its removal, he and the applicants will be looking into each other’s 
backyards. 

 
 Mr. Horsman stated that he could not specifically address the differences 

between different types of bamboo, but he stated he has seen runners on this 
particular bamboo. He noted that rates of growth can vary. He also noted that the 
bamboo has died back, which has reduced the amount of screening it currently 
provides. 

 
 The Commission commented that the plan provides a good amount of screening 

and includes a good mix of plants. The City Planner also noted that the applicant 
could remove the bamboo at any time if it chose to do so. 

 
 The Commission reviewed the draft resolution and had no revisions. 

 
ACTION: Martha Monserrate made a motion, seconded by Barbara Cummings, to 

approve Wetland Permit application number WP#400, which was carried 
by the following vote: 
 
Nick Everett, Chair:    Aye 
Martha Monserrate, Vice-Chair:  Aye 
Andrew Ball:     Aye 
Laura Brett:     Aye 
Barbara Cummings:    Aye 
Hugh Greechan:    Absent 
Alfred Vitiello:    Aye 

 



Rye City Planning Commission Minutes (Cont.) 
September 8, 2015 
Page 5 of 11 
 

2 

4 

6 
7 
8 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 

38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 

3. 979 Forest Avenue 1 
 

 Barbara Cummings recused herself from the discussion of this application. 3 
 
 The Commission asked when the changes were made to the lighting on the 5 

flagpole. Ms. Whitehead responded that it was after the applicants learned of a 
complaint that was made to the Building Department.  

 
 The City Planner asked Mr. Mooney about the last revision date on the plans. Mr. 9 

Mooney stated that it was 7/22/15. 
 

 The Commission asked the City Planner if a condition should be added to the 
resolution requiring the applicant to maintain the lighting as specified. The City 
Planner directed the applicant to add the wattage and angle of the lighting to the 
plan. The Commission reviewed the draft resolution and added a condition 
requiring that the lighting be maintained as specified on the amended plan. 

 
 The applicant noted that the lighting actually needs to be tweaked a little because 

the lighting does not adequately illuminate the flag. She stated that there is a 
mechanism in the light that will allow for the intensity to be turned up slightly. The 
Commission stated that no changes are required to the plan, since the 
mechanism is on the light itself. 

 
ACTION: Martha Monserrate made a motion, seconded by Laura Brett, to approve 

as amended Wetland Permit application number WP#402, which was 
carried by the following vote: 
 
Nick Everett, Chair:    Aye 
Martha Monserrate, Vice-Chair:  Aye 
Andrew Ball:     Aye 
Laura Brett:     Aye 
Barbara Cummings:    Recuse 
Hugh Greechan:    Absent 
Alfred Vitiello:    Aye 

 
 

4. 12 Pine Island 37 
 

 Mr. Jonathan Kraut, attorney, was present for the applicant. Mr. Kraut stated that 
the application went before the Zoning Board and the required area variances 
were granted on June 25th. He also noted that an agreement was reached with 
the neighbors, the O’Callaghans, which he stated had been included in the 
Commission’s packet for review. 

 



Rye City Planning Commission Minutes (Cont.) 
September 8, 2015 
Page 6 of 11 
 

2 
3 
4 
5 
6 

8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 

 Mr. Kraut stated that the stormwater management plan was revised to address 1 
concerns of the neighbors. He noted that no subsurface drainage is proposed 
because fill material would have been necessary. Mr. Kraut stated that 
stormwater controls now include a rain garden, three new catch basins for Pine 
Island Drive, a trench drain, and regrading at the fork in Pine Island Drive. 

 
 Mr. Alan Pilch, the applicant’s engineer, pointed out on the site plan where three 7 

deep hole tests had been located and where two percolation tests were done. He 
stated that the perc tests showed moderate percolation rates, indicating 
reasonable recharge. 

 
 Mr. Pilch described that there is a divide on the property, with the northwest 

draining to the swale and trench drain and then into the harbor at its current 
discharge point. He stated that the remainder of the property drains to the rain 
garden and discharges to the harbor through the wall. 

 
 Mr. Pilch stated that the fork in Pine Island Drive will be pitched toward the 

harbor to alleviate current ponding and then will be repaved.   
 

 Mr. Pilch noted that the subsurface chambers were eliminated because the 
neighbors objected to the placement of fill, which Mr. Pilch stated was required 
due to the presence of a high water table. He stated that at least three feet of 
separation was required, which was not possible without bringing in fill. He stated 
that the high water table is the main factor in designing the stormwater 
management system. 

 
 The City Planner pointed out that at high tide, the outlets would be underwater. 

He stated that he wanted people to be aware of that. Mr. Kraut stated that a 
3,500-gallon cistern system is being proposed to capture roof runoff, which has 
the added benefit of storage in the case of a high rainfall event with a high tide. 
He stated that it will be no worse than existing conditions during heavy rain and 
high tide. 

 
 Mr. Pilch stated that the cistern will be located within the footprint of the building. 

He stated that the water is intended to be used for irrigation, or could be released 
into the rain garden and/or swales in dry weather conditions. The City Planner 
asked whether the stormwater design was dependent on the cistern and Mr. 
Pilch responded no, stating that the cistern had been added later. 

 
 Mr. Pilch stated that there is a “berm” of sorts at the property line, with the swale 

below.  
 

 Mr. Pilch stated that the trench drains had been requested by the neighbors 
instead of catch basins. The Commission stated that the trench drains would not 



Rye City Planning Commission Minutes (Cont.) 
September 8, 2015 
Page 7 of 11 
 

1 
2 
3 
4 

6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 

hold up as well as catch basins. It was suggested that it would be better to crown 
the road when it gets rebuilt and add catch basins in order to better promote 
long-term maintenance of the stormwater management system. 

 
 Mr. Pilch described the landscaping plan. He stated that salt-tolerant plants were 5 

chosen for the east property line, including four black pines. He also noted that 
shrubs would be added to provide color and visual interest. He stated that shrubs 
and small trees are proposed for the northern property line and the remainder of 
the property will be lawn.  

 
 The Commission asked whether there was a detail sheet of the rain garden. Mr. 

Pilch responded yes but he did not have it with him. He stated that he will submit 
the revised drawings.  

 
 The Commission noted that white pines were hit very hard during Hurricane 

Sandy. Mr. Pilch stated that the black pines are very salt-tolerant. Mr. Nelson 
Blitz, resident of 10 Pine Island, stated that the black pines are dying and water 
runs everywhere, and rocks are falling into the wetland. 

 
 The Commission asked Mr. Pilch to look into the black pines. Mr. Kraut stated 

that the black pines were specifically selected for this property, but if there is 
something better, they will look into it. 

 
 The Commission asked Mr. Blitz to explain his rock concern. Mr. Blitz stated that 

there is a stone wall on Pine Island Drive and the road gets worse every year. 
Mr. Kraut stated that his client is happy to re-mortar the portion of the wall that is 
on his property if it presents a problem now. 

 
 Mr. Blitz asked whether the current application will worsen conditions, make them 

better, or keep them the same. Mr. Pilch responded that conditions will be better 
because the project includes a lot of stormwater controls that the property does 
not currently have. 

 
 Mr. Blitz’s lawyer stated that his client is concerned about the construction 

staging area next to the house. He stated that there is no reason for it to be 
there. The Commission noted that it did not receive Sheet SP3, so they have not 
been able to review it. The Commission stated that it shared the concern 
regarding construction staging and encouraged the applicant to consider 
alternative locations. 

 
 The attorney for the O’Callaghans stated that his clients are concerned about 

how high the swale is and where the cistern will drain. Mr. Pilch explained that 
the “berm” is really just an existing high area along the property line and the 
swale will be 2” to 5” below this high area. The Commission asked Mr. Pilch to 
provide a section through the swale. Mr. Pilch stated that from the backyard to 



Rye City Planning Commission Minutes (Cont.) 
September 8, 2015 
Page 8 of 11 
 

1 
2 
3 
4 

6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 

32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 

the property line, there would be no drainage from the cistern, but noted that the 
outflow has not been designed yet. Mr. Kraut noted that seasonal use of the 
water from the cistern is desired. 

 
 The O’Callaghans’ attorney stated that his clients want to make sure water 5 

doesn’t back up onto their property. The Commission asked Mr. Pilch to add flow 
arrows showing the direction of overland flow. Mr. Pilch stated that all water from 
the north will flow off of the property into the swale. It was noted that the existing 
conditions will be improved by raising the road and the other proposed 
improvements. The Commission clarified that it will be better in rain events, not in 
storm events that cause coastal flooding. 

 
 The Commission noted that all overland flow will be subject to freezing and there 

will be maintenance requirements for the swale, etc. to continue to function 
properly, and future homeowners could plant in the swale or otherwise change 
the direction of surface flow. It was discussed that catch basins for subsurface 
conveyance would avoid some of the maintenance issue. The City Planner noted 
that even subsurface systems would require maintenance. Mr. Kraut stated that 
the applicants do not object to exploring a subsurface system. Mr. Pilch noted 
that even a shallow Cul-tec system would require fill with the groundwater table 
being so high. The City Planner stated that subsurface systems can provide a 
false sense of security. The Commission directed Mr. Pilch to review the outfalls 
and inverts to see what might work. 

 
 The Commission noted that all of the drawings were not provided and they need 

to see everything before setting a public hearing. The Commission directed the 
applicant to review the current structural condition of the wall on Pine Island 
Drive.  

 
 
5. 19 Richard Place 31 
 

 Mr. Richard Horsman stated that mitigation for the increase in impervious area is 
planned for the left rear corner of the site. He noted that beneath the deck will be 
gravel and the wood pile is being removed. He also noted that the wetland line is 
essentially the property line. 

 
 The Commission noted that its comments from the previous meeting had been 

satisfactorily addressed and that they received the planting plan. 
 

 Ms. Carolyn Cunningham, CC/AC Chair, asked if any reduction in impervious 
area had been made since the last meeting, and asked if pervious pavement was 
considered on the driveway. Mr. Horsman responded that no reductions had 
been made, and pervious pavement was not possible in the driveway because 
the driveway descends under the house. 



Rye City Planning Commission Minutes (Cont.) 
September 8, 2015 
Page 9 of 11 
 

1 

3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 

23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 

 
 The Commission noted that the site plan removed impervious surface area from 2 

directly adjacent to the wetland and overall, the impervious area has been shifted 
away from the wetland. The Commission also noted that the lot is quite small, is 
entirely within the wetland buffer, and predates the City’s wetlands law. Ms. 
Cunningham agreed that removing the impervious area from directly adjacent to 
the wetland was an improvement. 

 
ACTION: Barbara Cummings made a motion, seconded by Al Vitiello, to set the 

public hearing for Wetland Permit application number WP#401, which was 
carried by the following vote: 
 
Nick Everett, Chair:    Aye 
Martha Monserrate, Vice-Chair:  Aye 
Andrew Ball:     Aye 
Laura Brett:     Aye 
Barbara Cummings:    Aye 
Hugh Greechan:    Absent 
Alfred Vitiello:    Aye 

 
 
6. 13 Sunset Lane 22 
 

 Mr. Richard Horsman, landscape architect, was present for the applicant. Mr. 
Horsman stated that the project consists of pond maintenance to remove 
accumulated sediment. He noted that the headwall will not be constructed, which 
is a reduction in scope. Mr. Horsman stated that Mr. John Keegan will be doing 
the work in the pond and was present to describe the project to the Commission. 

 
 Mr. Keegan stated that he will be hydraulically removing the organic material in 

the pond. He stated that the sediment will be pumped into a large bag, which 
filters out sediment from the water. He stated that a 5’ by 3’ sediment basin will 
be constructed at the entrance to the pond to catch sediment so that a smaller 
area can be cleaned in the future. 

 
 Mr. Keegan stated that the bag will be laid out to dry and then the removed 

sediment will be spread on the applicant’s property and covered with top soil. He 
stated that the amount of material removed will be approximately 1,400-1,500 
cubic yards, but is much less material once it is dry. 

 
 Mr. Keegan stated that the original depth of the pond was approximately 7.5’ and 

the depth in the center is now 4’. He stated that at the edges of the pond there is 
less than one foot of depth. 

 



Rye City Planning Commission Minutes (Cont.) 
September 8, 2015 
Page 10 of 11 
 

2 
3 
4 
5 

7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 

28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 

 The Commission asked whether soil testing had been done yet. Mr. Kraut 1 
responded that it had not and he stated that if the soil will be covered, testing is 
not required. Mr. Horsman stated that per DEC regulations, as long as the spoils 
will be covered, testing is not required. 

 
 The Commission directed the applicant to conduct soil testing for pesticides, 6 

herbicides, and heavy metals as soon as possible. Mr. Keegan noted that 
turbidity is tested throughout the day while the pump is operating.  

 
 The Commission asked about the time frame for pumping. Mr. Keegan stated 

that it should take approximately three weeks. He stated that a drying time of 60 
days is required before the bag can be opened and the material spread on the 
property.  

 
 Ms. Cunningham asked how the wildlife in the pond, such as fish and turtles, will 

be protected from being drawn into the bag. Mr. Keegan responded that the bag 
has a screen that filters out large particles, so there is no chance that a large 
animal will get drawn into the bag. He also noted that the pump moves very 
slowly through the water, so animals will most likely be able to get away.  

 
 The City Planner noted that the neighbor’s consent is needed because the pond 

is partially on the adjacent property. He stated that it can be a signature on the 
application or a letter. He also stated that a grading plan is needed showing the 
existing and proposed grading, even though the quantities are not certain. 

 
 
7. 53 Purchase Street 27 
 

 Mr. David Mooney was present for the application. Mr. Mooney stated that the 
application consists of the renovation of an existing building at the corner of 
Purchase Street and Elm Place. He stated that the building is 7,378 square feet 
and is 37% occupied. He stated that the proposed plan is for retail on the ground 
floor with four apartments above.  

 
 Mr. Mooney stated that the building has a parking credit of 3.6 parking spaces 

and 2.8 spaces will be required by the change in use, leaving a remaining credit 
of 0.8 spaces.  

 
 The City Planner noted that the building already exceeds the allowable FAR 

(6,042 square feet) and there is no increase in intensity proposed. He stated that 
the application is a change in use. 

 
 The Commission asked about the plans for accommodating trash within the 

building. Mr. Mooney stated that it will depend on the retail mix. The Commission 



Rye City Planning Commission Minutes (Cont.) 
September 8, 2015 
Page 11 of 11 
 

1 
2 
3 
4 

6 
7 
8 
9 

10 

12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 

stated that a plan for the trash enclosure(s) is needed now; it cannot wait until 
tenants have been identified. The Commission also stated that the trash must be 
accommodated inside the building. 

 
 The City Planner noted that the City has plans to improve Elm Place near 5 

Purchase Street, and would like the applicant to participate in the improvements. 
He stated that the project is considered a substantial renovation and must 
comply with ADA requirements, which the existing building does not.  

 
 
8. Minutes 11 
 

 The Commission reviewed the minutes from the meeting on August 11, 2015 and 
had no comments. 

 
 
ACTION: Laura Brett made a motion, seconded by Al Vitiello, to approve the 

minutes from the August 11th meeting, which was carried by the following 
vote: 
 
Nick Everett, Chair:    Aye 
Martha Monserrate, Vice-Chair:  Aye 
Andrew Ball:     Aye 
Laura Brett:     Aye 
Barbara Cummings:    Aye 
Hugh Greechan:    Absent 
Alfred Vitiello:    Aye 

 
 


	Rye City Planning Commission Minutes

